BYLAWS OF MIRACLE MILE COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT

A California Public Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation

ARTICLE 1 OFFICES

Section 1. Name

The name of this Corporation is and shall be Miracle Mile Community Improvement District (hereinafter referred to as the "Corporation"), a California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation.

Section 2. Principal Office

The principal office of the Corporation for the transaction of its business is located in the City of Stockton in San Joaquin County, California, within the boundaries of the Miracle Mile Community Benefit Improvement District ("the District").

Section 3. Change of Address

The Board of Directors (the "Board") may change the principal office of the Corporation from one location to another, within the boundaries of the District. Any change of the location of the principal office shall be noted by the Secretary on these Bylaws opposite this Section or this Section may be amended to state the new location.

ARTICLE 2 PURPOSES

The primary objectives and purposes of this Corporation shall be:

- A) To bring about the revitalization of the Miracle Mile District.
- B) To bring about the investment of private and public capital within the Miracle Mile District area for public benefit and charitable purposes.
- C) To bring about the increased provision of quality public improvements and educational, cultural, artistic, charitable, and social services within the Miracle Mile District area for public benefit and charitable purposes.
- D) To bring about the increased economic well-being of residents, employees, and businesses within the Miracle Mile District.
- E) To promote improvement within the Miracle Mile District Community through activities which contribute to the economic and neighborhood well-being of the Miracle Mile District.

F) Upon the dissolution or winding up of this Corporation, its assets remaining after payment, of all debts and liabilities of this Corporation, shall be distributed to a nonprofit fund, foundation, or Corporation which is organized and operated exclusively for charitable, educational and/or religious purposes and which has established its tax-exempt status under Internal Revenue Code section 501(c)(3).

ARTICLE 3 MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. No Members

This Corporation shall have no members, as that term is defined in Section 5056 of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law. Unless otherwise provided herein or in the California Nonprofit Corporation Law, any action which would otherwise require action or approval by a majority of all members shall require only approval of the Board of Directors. All rights which would otherwise vest in members shall vest in the Board of Directors. Nothing in these Bylaws shall be construed as limiting the right of the Corporation to refer to persons associated with it, who participate in any activities of the Corporation, as "members" even though such persons are not members, as defined in section 5056 of the California Corporations Code. Such persons shall be deemed to be affiliated persons with respect to the Corporation as that term is provided in Corporation Code §5332(b) of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law, and no such reference shall constitute anyone a member of this Corporation or confer any legal rights on such persons with respect to the affairs of the Corporation.

ARTICLE 4: DIRECTORS

Section 1. Number and Term

The Corporation shall have a minimum of seven (7) and a maximum of thirteen (13) Directors and collectively they shall be known as the Board of Directors. The exact number of Directors shall be fixed from time-to-time by resolution by the Board of Directors. Subject to the foregoing provisions for changing the number of Directors, the following seats shall be allocated to the Board of Directors:

- A) No less than a two-thirds majority of the seats on the Board of Directors at all times shall be filled by Property Owner Directors (as defined in Section 2 of this Article 4);
- B) The balance of seats shall be filled by Community Directors as defined in Section 2 of this Article 4);
- Directors shall be elected for a term of two (2) years. However, following the first election of Directors, one half (½) of the Property Owner Directors and one half (½) of the Community Directors shall serve a term of one (1) year, and one-half (½) of the Property Owner Directors and one half (½) of the Community Directors shall serve a term of two (2) years. The Directors may assign the one-

year terms by unanimous agreement, but in the absence of such agreement, the Directors receiving one-year terms shall be chosen by lot at the meeting at which the election is held. This staggering of terms will ensure that the entire Board is not replaced within one calendar year. Directors' terms shall commence on the date of their election and expire on the date of the election of the successor to the Director whose term is expiring.

Section 2. Qualifications

Members of the Board shall possess the following qualifications:

- A) Property Owner Directors shall be owners of real property within the boundaries of the Miracle Mile Community Benefit Improvement District (the "District"), who have made full payment of all District assessments due for the previous and current fiscal years, or the duly appointed authorized representative (as defined in these Bylaws) of such owner.
- B) Community Directors shall be persons who a) own and operate a business located on property located within the boundaries of the District, or the duly appointed authorized representative (as defined in these Bylaws) of such owner and operator; b) community members who reside within the boundaries of the District; c) individuals who do not reside or operate a business within the District/ boundaries but who show a high degree of interest and concern for the welfare of the District and who understand its connection to the community at large, and who the Board believes may assist the Corporation to fulfill its goals as a public benefit Corporation.
- C) A steering committee consisting of the persons set forth in Exhibit "A" attached to these Bylaws and who have placed their signatures on Exhibit "A," is hereby appointed upon the execution of these Bylaws as an interim Board of Directors to oversee creation and functioning of the Corporation including the adoption of the Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws of the Corporation, an initial governance plan, and the election of the First Board of Directors. The interim Board shall serve until they have elected a fully qualified Board of Directors in accordance with these Bylaws.

Section 3. Nomination and Election

Not less than forty-five (45) days before the date set forth for the Annual meeting of the Directors, the President shall appoint at least three (3) Directors, at least two of whom shall be Property Owner Directors, as the Nominating Committee to solicit nominees for consideration for election as Directors. The names so proposed, by the Committee shall be presented to the Board at its Annual meeting. The Nominations Committee shall include the President and at least two other Directors.

The Nominations Committee shall provide nomination forms to all eligible property owners and Directors. The nomination forms shall be mailed out at least thirty (30) days prior to the date set for the annual meeting. A due date of at least twenty (20) days prior to the

annual meeting date shall be stated as the deadline for submitting nominations to the Nominations Committee;

- A) The nominees, who have been deemed to be qualified, consistent with these Bylaws shall be presented to the Board for consideration of election to the Board at its annual meeting.
- B) At the annual meeting, the Directors may vote to accept some, or all of the nominees submitted by the Nominations Committee. The election of Directors shall comply with the allocation provided in Section 1 of this Article 4.

Nominations may not be made from the floor but only in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 3 or such other procedures as may be determined by the Board.

Section 4. Powers

- A) <u>General Powers</u>. Subject to the provisions of the California Nonprofit Corporation law, and any limitations in the Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, the activities and affairs of this Corporation shall be conducted, and all corporate powers shall be exercised by or under the direction of the Board of Directors.
- B) <u>Specific Powers</u>. Without prejudice to the general powers stated in Section 4A and subject to the same limitations, the Directors shall have the power to:
 - 1) Select and remove all officers, employees, and agents of this Corporation; Prescribe any powers and duties for the officers, employees and agents that are consistent with law, with the Articles of Incorporation, and with these Bylaws; and fix the compensation of the officers, employees, and agents;
 - 2) Change the Principal Executive Office or the principal business office in the State of California from one location to another within the City of Stockton; Cause this Corporation to be qualified to do business in any other state, territory, dependency, or country and conduct business within or outside the State of California for the holding of any meeting, including annual meetings;
 - 3) Borrow money and incur indebtedness on behalf of this Corporation and cause to be executed and delivered for corporate purposes, in the corporate name, promissory notes, bonds, debentures, deeds of trust, mortgages, pledges, hypothecations, and other evidence of debt and securities;
 - 4) Accept on behalf of this Corporation any contribution, gift, bequest, or devise for the general purposes or for any special purpose of this Corporation;
 - 5) Contract for goods and/or services for this Corporation, subject to the limitations elsewhere provided in these Bylaws; Maintain and otherwise manage or cause to be managed, all other property acquired by this Corporation; Contract

and pay maintenance, utilities, materials and supplies and services, relating to facilities; and employ personnel reasonably necessary for the operation of this Corporation, including lawyers and accountants where appropriate;

- 6) Enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of this Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to a specific instance;
- 7) Adopt and publish rules and regulations governing the use of facilities of this Corporation, and to establish penalties for the infraction thereof;
- 8) Conduct, manage and control the affairs and business of this Corporation;
 - 9) Contract and pay for the expenses of this Corporation;
- 10) Prescribe such rules relating to the affairs and conduct of this Corporation as in the judgment of the Board, from time to time, may be found necessary or proper;
- 11) Pay taxes and special assessments which are or would become a lien on property of this Corporation;
- 12) Exercise all other powers granted to the Board by the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws or the laws of the State of California, including, without limitation, the California Nonprofit Corporation Law;
- 13) Remove a Director from the Board for cause including failure of a Property Owner Director to pay assessments levied by the District in a timely manner, malfeasance, conflicts of interest or unauthorized use of the Corporation's funds and/or name for personal gain.

All checks, drafts, or orders for the payment of debts, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued in the name of this Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers, agent, or agents of this Corporation and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board. In the absence of such determination by the Board, such instruments shall be signed by the Treasurer and at least one other officers of the corporation.

Section 5. Compensation

The Directors shall serve without compensation except that any Director may be reimbursed for his or her actual expenses incurred in the performance of his or her duties.

Section 6. Conflict of Interest (Restriction re: interested Directors)

Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, not more than thirty percent (30%) of the persons serving on the Board may be interested persons. For purposes of this Section, "interested persons" means either:

- A) Any person currently being compensated by the Corporation for services rendered it within the previous twelve (12) months, whether as a full or part-time officer or other employee, independent contractor; or
- B) Any brother, sister, ancestor, descendant, spouse, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, mother-in-law, or father-in-law of any such interested person.

In any and all cases, a Board member who also happens to be an "interested person" shall not move, second or vote on any contract in which they have a financial interest

Owning real property or a business within the boundaries of the District does not render a Director an interested person.

Section 7. Vacancies and Removal

Vacancies on the Board may result from the death, removal or resignation of a Director as provided in this Section 7, or by a duly enacted increase in the number of authorized Board members.

Any Board member with three (3) *unexcused* absences from regularly scheduled Board meetings within a one-year period shall be automatically removed from the Board without any formal action required to be taken by the Board. Any Board member who misses four (4) regular Board meeting within a one-year period, whether excused or unexcused, shall be automatically removed from the Board without any formal action required to be taken by the Board.

The Board of Directors may remove and declare vacant the seat of a Director who has been declared of unsound mind by a final order of court, or for whom a guardian or conservator of the person has been appointed by a court, or who has been convicted of a felony, or who has been found by a final order or judgment of any court to have breached any duty under Section 5230 and following of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law.

Any Director may be removed from the Board without cause by the affirmative vote of Directors constituting at least two-thirds (2/3) of the total membership of the Board then in office. Written notice of the Board's intention to remove a Director from the Board shall be given fifteen (15) days prior to the date of the proposed removal vote. The notice shall identify the reasons for the proposed removal and shall provide an opportunity for the subject Director to appear and be heard, orally or in writing, not less than five days before the removal vote. The notice shall be sent to the subject Director by first class or certified

mail. Any removal vote shall be by secret written ballot. Upon an affirmative vote of removal of a Director, the removed Director's seat shall be deemed vacant.

Any Director may resign effective upon giving written notice to the President or, the Secretary of this Corporation. The effective date of the resignation shall be the effective date stated in the notice of resignation, or if no date is specified in the notice, the resignation shall be effective on the date the notice of resignation is received by the President or the Secretary. Upon the effective date of the resignation, the resigned Director's seat shall be deemed vacant.

Vacancies on the Board may be filled at any time by the affirmative vote or written consent of a majority of the Directors then in office. If the number of Directors then in office is less than a quorum, the vacancy may be filled by (a) the unanimous written consent of all of the Directors then in office without a meeting, or b) the affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors then in office at a duly noticed regular or special meeting; or (c) a sole remaining Director. Persons filling a vacancy shall meet the qualifications provided in Section 2 of this Article 4. Any person filling a vacancy created by the death, removal or resignation of a Property Owner Director as provided in Section 2 of this Article 4. Any person filling a vacancy created by the death, removal or resignation of a Community Director shall meet the qualifications for a Community Director as provided in Section 2 of this Article 4.

A person elected to fill a vacancy as provided by this Section shall hold office until the next regular annual election of the Board of Directors or until his or her death, resignation, or removal from office.

Section 8. Non-Liability of Directors.

The Directors shall not be personally liable for the debts, liabilities, or other obligations of the Corporation.

Section 9. Indemnification of Directors.

A) Right of Indemnification. The Corporation shall indemnify any person who was or is a party to any threatened, pending or completed civil lawsuit or proceeding, whether administrative, or investigative, including all appeals (other than an action brought by or on behalf of the Corporation) by reason of the fact that that person is or was acting as a director, officer, or employee of the Corporation. Indemnification shall be against all expenses, including without limitation, attorneys' fees, court costs, expert witness fees, judgments, decrees, and fines actually paid by the person in settlement of any action, suit, or proceedings provided that the Board of Directors shall first have determined, in its sole judgment, that the person acted in good faith and in a manner that he or she reasonably believed to be in the best interests of the Corporation. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, or settlement shall not of itself create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith.

- B) <u>Gross Negligence or Misconduct</u>. No indemnification shall be made for any claim, issue, or matter as to which the person is finally adjudged to be liable for gross negligence or intentional misconduct in the performance of his or her duties as director, officer, trustee, fiduciary or employee.
- C) Indemnity for Successful Defense. In spite of any limitations set forth in subsections A) and B) of this Section 9, to the extent that any person has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in those Sections, that person shall be indemnified against all expenses actually and reasonably paid by him or her, including, without limitation, attorneys' fees, court costs, and expert witness fees.
- D) Advancement of Expenses. Expenses incurred in defending a civil action, suit, or proceeding may be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of the action, suit, or proceeding as authorized by the Board of Directors, on receipt by the Board of Directors of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director, officer, or employee involved to repay the expenses if it is ultimately determined that the person is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation as authorized in this Section.
- E) <u>Indemnification Not Exclusive</u>. The indemnification provided under this Section shall not be deemed to be exclusive or any other rights to which any person indemnified may be entitled under nay regulation, agreement, vote of the stockholders or disinterested directors, or otherwise. The indemnification provided under this Section shall be deemed exclusive of any other power to indemnify or right to indemnification that the Corporation or nay person referred to in this Section may have or acquire. Indemnification shall continue and inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors, and administrators of any person entitled to indemnification under this Section.
- F) <u>Liability Insurance</u>. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee, or designated agent of the Corporation against any liability asserted against and incurred by that person whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify that person under the provisions of these Bylaws.

ARTICLE 5: DIRECTORS MEETINGS

Section 1. Meetings Subject to the Brown Act.

All regular, Annual, Special and Emergency Meetings of the Board of Directors are subject to the provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act (Government Code Section 54950 et seq.) ("the Brown Act").

Section 2. Annual Meeting.

An Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors for the purpose of electing members of the Board of Directors and appointing officers of the Corporation shall be held each year during the first week of September. The Annual Meeting shall be deemed a Regular Meeting for purposes of scheduling, notice and posting of agendas.

Section 3. Regular Meetings.

Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at a time and place as set by resolution of the Board of Directors from time to time. The Board has the authority to alter the time and place of the Regular Meetings upon majority vote provided reasonable notification of such change is made in compliance with the Brown Act.

Section 4. Time and Place of Regular Meetings

Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at a time and place within the City of Stockton designated from time to time by resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 5. Agendas for Regular Meetings.

At least 72 hours prior to a regular meeting, the Secretary shall post at a location freely available to the public an agenda in compliance with the Brown Act containing a brief general description of each item to be considered at the meeting, including items to be discussed as well as items that may be acted upon by the Board..

Section 6, Special Meetings.

Other than an Emergency Meeting as hereinafter provided, any meeting of the Board of Directors held at a time or place other than the time or place specified for Regular Meetings) is designated as a Special Meeting. Special Meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President or by a majority of the Board.

Section 7 Time and Place of Special Meetings.

Special Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at the time and place within the City of Stockton designated by the person or persons calling the Special Meeting. In the absence of such designation, the meeting shall be held at the principal office of the Corporation at a time designated by the President within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the request for the Special Meeting.

Section 8. Notice of Special Meetings.

In compliance with the Brown Act, notice of a Special Meeting shall be provided 24 hours in advance of the meeting to all of the Directors and to all media outlets who have requested notification. The notice also must be posted at least 24 hours prior to the meeting in a location freely accessible to the public. The notice shall indicate that the meeting is being called as a Special Meeting, and shall state the time, place of the meeting within the City of Stockton, and business to be considered or transacted at the meeting. No other business shall be considered at the Special Meeting.

Section 9. Emergency Meetings.

Emergency Meetings of the Board of Directors may be called only upon a determination by a majority of the Board that an emergency situation exists. For the purposes of this section, "emergency" is defined as a crippling disaster, mass destruction, terrorist activity work stoppage or other activity which poses an immediate peril to public health, safety, or both, as determined by a majority of the Board.

Section 10. Time and Place of Emergency Meetings.

Emergency Meetings shall be held at a time and place designated by the President.

Section 11. Notice of Emergency Meetings.

Upon a determination by a roll call vote of a majority of the Board that an emergency as defined in Section 9 of this Article 4 exists, at least one hour's telephonic notice of the time, place, and subject of the Emergency Meeting, shall be given to all members of the Board and to all media outlets that have requested pursuant to the Brown Act that they receive notice of any Special Meetings called. At the conclusion of the Emergency Meeting, the minutes of the meeting, a list of persons who the Board notified or attempted to notify, a copy of the rollcall vote, and any actions taken at the Emergency Meeting shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a public place as soon after the Emergency Meeting as possible.

Section 12. Adjourned Meetings.

Notice of the time and place of holding an adjourned, postponed, or continued meeting must be given to absent Directors if the time and place of the adjourned meeting are fixed at the meeting adjourned and if such adjourned meeting is held no more than forty-eight (48) hours from the time of the original meeting. Notice shall be given of any adjourned regular or special meeting to Directors absent from the original meeting if the adjourned meeting is held more than forty-eight (48) hours from the time of the original meeting. So long as the time and place of the adjourned, postponed, or continued meeting is publicly announced at the meeting adjourned, postponed or continued, no other notice of an adjourned, postponed, or continued meeting need be given

Section 13. Closed Sessions.

The Board may conduct closed sessions regarding the following matters: a) the appointment, performance evaluation, discipline or dismissal of an employee; b) discussion with the Corporation's attorney regarding pending litigation or a significant exposure to litigation c) granting authority to the Corporation's negotiator concerning the price and terms of payment in connection with the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of real property by or for the Corporation; d) to meet and confer with the Corporation's labor negotiator concerning discussions with employee organizations and unrepresented employees regarding salaries and fringe benefits; and e) meetings with the Corporation's attorney, the chief of police, a security consultant or security operations manager, or their deputies, on matter posing a threat to the security of public buildings, or the public's right of access to essential public services or facilities. No person shall disclose information

communicated made in a closed session that is specifically related to the basis for the Board to meet in closed session ("confidential information") Such closed sessions may be held as part of a regular meeting of the Board, or at a special meeting convened for the sole purpose of the closed session. All such closed sessions shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Brown Act.

Section 14. Annual Public Meeting.

The Corporation shall organize and conduct, one annual public meeting to be noticed on the Corporation's website and in a writing mailed to all record owners of property in the District. This meeting will be conducted at a location convenient to the District. A City representative may attend to provide information and assistance in the conduct of the meeting.

Section 15. Quorum for Meeting.

A quorum shall consist of fifty per cent plus 1 of the sitting Board of Directors. Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws or in the Articles of Incorporation of this Corporation, or by law, no business shall be considered by the Board at any meeting at which a quorum, as hereinafter defined, is not present, and the only motion which the Chair shall entertain at such meeting is a motion to adjourn. However, a majority of the Directors present at such meeting may adjourn from time to time until the time fixed for the next regular meeting of the Board. The Directors present at a duly called and held meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to do business notwithstanding the loss of a quorum at the meeting due to a withdrawal of Directors from the meeting, provided that any action thereafter taken must be approved by at least a majority of the required quorum for such meeting or such greater percentage as may be required by law, or the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of this Corporation.

Section 16. Majority Action as a Board Action.

Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the Directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present is the act of the Board of Directors, unless the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of this Corporation, or provisions of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law.

Section 17. Voting.

Each Director shall have one (1) vote on each matter presented to the Board of Directors for action. No Director may vote by proxy.

Section 18. Conduct of Meetings.

Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be presided over by the President of the Board, or appointed Chairperson of the Board, or, in his or her absence, by the Vice President of the Corporation or, in the absence of each of these persons, by a Chairperson chosen

by a majority of the Directors present at the meeting. The Secretary of the Corporation shall act as secretary of all meetings of the Board, provided that, in his or her absence, the presiding officer shall appoint another person to act as Secretary of the Meeting.

Meetings shall be governed by Roberts Rules of Order, as such rules may be revised from time to time, insofar as such rules are consistent with or in conflict with these Bylaws, with the Articles of Incorporation of this Corporation, or with provisions of law.

Section 19. Telephonic Participation

Any Director may participate in a Regular, Special or Emergency Meetings by telephone conference, electronic video screen communication (skype), or similar communications equipment, if all Directors can hear and be heard by one another. Participating in the meeting by such means constitute presence at the meeting, and Directors so participating shall be counted as present for purposes of a quorum.

Section 20. Insurance for Corporate Agents.

The Board of Directors may adopt a resolution authorizing the purchase and maintenance of insurance on behalf of any agent of the Corporation (including a Director, officer, employee or other agent of the Corporation) against any liability other than for violating provisions of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law relating to self-dealing asserted against or incurred by the agent in such capacity or arising out of the agent's status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify the agent against such liability under the provisions of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law.

ARTICLE 6:

OFFICERS

Section 1. Number of Officers

The officers of the Corporation shall be a President, a Vice President, a Secretary, and a Chief Financial Officer who shall be designated the Treasurer. Any number of offices may be held by the same person except that neither the Secretary nor the Treasurer may serve concurrently as the President.

Section 2. Qualification, Election, and Term of Office

- A) The President, Vice Presidents, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer shall be selected from the membership of the Board and shall be Board members. Assistant Secretaries, Assistant Treasurers, and other officers need not be members of the Board.
- B) Officers shall be elected individually each year by the Board of Directors at the Annual Meeting, or if a vacancy exists, at any time.

C) Each officer shall hold office for a one-year term or until he or she resigns or is removed or is otherwise disqualified to serve, or until his or her successor shall be elected and qualified, whichever occurs first. A Board member shall serve two full years prior to becoming eligible for nomination as an officer, except during the first two years of the existence of the Corporation.

Section 3. Additional Officers

- A) The Board of Directors may appoint one or more auxiliary Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries, Assistant Treasurers, or other auxiliary officers or agents as it may deem desirable, and such officers shall serve such terms, have such authority, and perform such duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors. Such auxiliary officers need not be members of the Board of Directors.
- B) The Board of Directors shall appoint an Executive Director who shall serve as a non-voting ex-officio officer of the Corporation, with such powers, duties and term of office as shall be assigned by the Board from time to time.

Section 4. Duties of Officers

- A) **President.** The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and shall, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, supervise and control the affairs of the Corporation and the activities of the officers. He or she shall perform all duties incident to his or her office and such other duties as may be required by law, by the Articles of Incorporation of this Corporation, or by these Bylaws, or which may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors. He or she shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, by the Articles of Incorporation, or by these Bylaws, he or she shall, in the name of the Corporation, execute such deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, checks, or other instruments which may from time to time be authorized by the Board of Directors.
- B) **Vice President.** In the absence of the President, or in the event of his or her inability or refusal to act, the Vice President shall perform all the duties of the President, and when so acting shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the restrictions on, the President. The Vice President shall have other powers and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by law, by the Articles of Incorporation, or by these Bylaws, or as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors.

C) **Secretary.** The Secretary shall:

- 1. Certify and keep at the principal office of the Corporation the original or a copy of these Bylaws as amended or otherwise altered to date.
- 2. Keep at the principal office of the Corporation or at such other place as the Board may determine, a book of minutes of all meetings of the directors, and, if applicable,

meetings of committees, recording therein the time and place of holding, whether regular or special, how called, how notice thereof was given, the names of those present or represented at the meeting, and the proceedings thereof.

- 3. See that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by law.
- 4. Be custodian of the records and of the seal of the Corporation and see that the seal is affixed to all duly executed documents, the execution of which on behalf of the Corporation under its seal is authorized by law or these Bylaws.
- 5. Exhibit at all reasonable times to any director of the Corporation or to any owner of real property within the boundaries of the District, or to the duly appointed and authorized representative of such director or owner, upon request therefore, the Bylaws, and the minutes of the proceedings of the directors of the Corporation.
- 6. In general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as may be required by law, by the Articles of Incorporation of this Corporation, or by these Bylaws, or which may be assigned to him or her from time to time by the Board of Directors.
- D) **Treasurer.** Subject to the provisions of these Bylaws relating to the "Execution of Instruments, Deposits and Funds," the Treasurer shall:
- 1. Have charge and custody of, and be responsible for, all funds and securities of the Corporation, and deposit all such funds in the name of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as shall be selected by the Board of Directors, or delegate such responsibilities to staff;
- 2. Receive, and give receipt for, monies due and payable to the Corporation from any source whatsoever.
- 3. Disburse, or cause to be disbursed, the funds of the Corporation as may be directed by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements.
- 4. Keep and maintain adequate and correct accounts of the Corporation's properties and business transactions, including accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, and losses.
- 5. Exhibit at all reasonable times the books of account and financial records to any director of the Corporation, or to any owner of real property within the boundaries of the District, or to the duly appointed and authorized representative of such director or owner, upon request, therefore.
- 6. Render to the President and Directors, whenever requested, an account of any or all his or her transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the Corporation.

- 7. Prepare, or cause to be prepared, and certify, or cause to be certified, the financial statements to be included in any required reports.
- 8. In general, perform all duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as may be required by law, by the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, or by these Bylaws, or which may be assigned to him or her from time to time by the Board of Directors.
- **Section 5. Compensation.** No director or officer of the Corporation shall receive compensation or salary for their service on the Board of Directors or as an officer.

ARTICLE 7:

COMMITTEES

- **Section 1. Executive Committee.** The President, the Vice President, second Vice Presidents, the Secretary and the Treasurer shall constitute an Executive Committee. The Board of Directors shall delegate to the Executive Committee such of the powers and authority of the Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation, **except** with respect to:
- A) The approval of any action which, under law or the provisions of these Bylaws, requires the approval of the majority of the Board of Directors.
- B) The filling of vacancies on the Board or on any committee which has the authority of the Board.
 - C) The amendment or repeal of Bylaws or the adoption of new Bylaws.
- D) The amendment or repeal or any resolution of the Board which by its express terms is not so amendable or repeal able.
 - E) The appointment of committees of the Board or the members thereof.
- F) The approval of any transaction to which this Corporation is a party and in which one or more of the Directors has a material financial interest, except as expressly provided in Section 5233(d)(3) of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law.

By a majority vote of its members then in office, the Board may at any time revoke or modify any or all of the powers or authority so delegated to the Executive Committee, increase, or decrease the membership of the Executive Committee by not more than two members of the Board of Directors, and fill vacancies on the Executive Committee from the members of the board. The Executive Committee shall keep regular minutes of its proceedings, cause them to be filed with the corporate records, and report the same to the Board of Directors from time to time as the Board may require.

Section 2. Other Committees and Task Forces. The Corporation shall have such other committees and task forces as may from time to time be designated by resolution

of the Board of Directors. Members of such committees and task forces shall be appointed by the President. Such committees and task forces shall be advisory bodies to the Board of Directors, may consist of persons who are not also members of the Board, and in no event shall the membership of such committees and task forces include members of the Board of Directors constituting a quorum of the Board of Directors. These additional committees and task forces shall act in an advisory capacity only to the Board and shall be clearly titled as "advisory" committees or task forces.

Section 4. Meetings and Actions of Committees.

- A) **Executive Committee**. Meetings and actions of the Executive Committee and any standing committees that may be created by the Board of Directors shall be governed by, noticed, held, and conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act in the same manner as meetings of the Board of Directors as provided in Article 5 of these Bylaws. The time for meetings of the Executive Committee may be fixed by the Board of Directors, or the committee chair.
- B) Advisory Committees and Task Forces. Meetings and actions of advisory committees are not subject to the Ralph M. Brown Act and may be noticed, held, and conducted in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by the Board of Directors, provided that such rules and regulations are consistent with the provisions of these Bylaws.

ARTICLE 8:

EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS, DEPOSITS and FUNDS

Section 1. Execution of Instruments

The Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, may by resolution authorize any officer or agent of the Corporation to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. Unless so authorized, no officer, agent, or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the Corporation by any contract or engagement, to pledge its credit or to render it liable monetary for any purpose or in any amount.

Section 2. Checks and Notes

Except as otherwise specifically determined by resolution of the Board of Directors, or as otherwise required by law, checks, drafts, promissory notes, orders for the payment of money, and other evidence of indebtedness of the Corporation shall be signed by at least two of the four of the offices of the corporation.

Section 3. Deposits

All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board of Directors may select.

Section 4. Gifts

The Board of Directors may accept on behalf of the Corporation any contribution, gift, bequest, or devise for the charitable or public purposes of this Corporation.

Article 9:

REPORTS

Section 1. Annual Report.

On or before March 1, 2023, and annually thereafter, the Corporation shall submit an "Annual Report" to the City Manager. The Annual Report will summarize the prior year's financial activities and include at the minimum, assets and liabilities of the Corporation as of the end of the fiscal year; principal changes in assets and liabilities including trust funds during the fiscal year; the revenue or receipts of the Orporation, both restricted and unrestricted for the fiscal year; expense or disbursements of the Corporation, for both general and restricted funds and any information required by Section 7 of Article 9 of these Bylaws to be included in the Annual Statement of Specific Transactions to Property Owners.

Section 2. Annual Work Plan and Budget.

- A) On or before January 1st of each year for each fiscal year for which assessments are to be levied and collected by the District, the Corporation shall submit to the City an Annual Work Plan and Budget for the upcoming year (the "Annual Report and Budget"). The Annual Report and Budget shall be prepared in accordance with Section 36622 of the Streets and Highways Code, and Article XIIID of the California Constitution. Any District Revenues necessary to cover MMCIA's portion of the Financial Statement shall be set aside in the Budget.
- B) Assuming that no structural changes are recommended to the Engineer's Report, the Annual Report and Budget will be approved each year before January 1, the beginning of the Corporation's new fiscal year. If changes to the Annual Work Plan and/or Budget that require changing the Engineer's Report are requested that would require a public hearing and/or a public meeting pursuant to state law, the Community Benefit District Ordinance, or which would affect the assessment database and resulting budget of the upcoming fiscal year, then such modification shall be submitted prior to June 1st of each year of the term of the Management and Disbursement Agreement between the County and the Corporation entered into on January 1, 2023 ("the MDA"). The Budget for any year shall not be effective until approved by the City.

Section 3. Financial Statement.

Annually in conjunction with the Annual Report and Budget, the Corporation shall prepare financial statements that document the disposition, commitment and line-item expenditures of all District/Association Revenues received during the previous calendar year (the "Financial Statement"). The Financial Statement shall be prepared by a Certified Public Accountant acceptable to the City and shall be delivered to the City at the same time as the Annual Report and Budget or within 90 days of the completion of each fiscal year of the Corporation.

Section 4. Statement of Activity/Program.

A statement of activities/programs funded by District revenues, and the cost of each such activity or program shall be mailed to every property owner within one-hundred and twenty (120) days following the close of the Corporation's fiscal year (the "Activity Statement") commencing after the end of the first Fiscal Year December 31, 2023. A copy of the Activity Statement and a list of property owner names and addresses shall be provided to the County no later than June 1st, of each year during the term of the MDA.

Section 5. Annual Statement of Specific Transactions to Property Owners.

Section 6. Assessment Data.

- A) The Corporation shall maintain a complete database for each parcel assessed within the District, containing the following information:
 - 1. Assessor's Parcel Number
 - 2. Street Address
 - 3. Name and Address of Owner(s) of Record
 - 4. Amount of the Assessment Levied
 - 5. Proportionate Financial Obligation Imposed, compared to District
 - 6. Assessment Calculations, including all variables used

The Corporation shall make such information available to property owners within the District upon request at a time and place to be arranged in advance.

B) By June 1 of each operating year, the Corporation shall provide the City with assessment data for the subsequent tax year (July 1 – June 30), in a format prescribed by the City. The assessment data shall include all of the information required in Sub-section A) of this Section 5.

ARTICLE 10:

CORPORATE RECORDS AND SEAL.

Section 1. Maintenance of Corporate Records.

The Corporation shall maintain the following corporate records which shall be maintained at the principal office of the Corporation. Except for records specifically exempted by law, such records shall be available for public review consistent with the provisions the Ralph M. Brown Act:

- A) Minutes of all meetings of Directors, committees of the Board and, if this Corporation has members, of all meetings of members, indicating the time and place of holding such meetings, whether regular or special, the notice given, and the names of those present and the proceedings thereof;
- B) Adequate and correct books and records of account, including accounts of its properties and business transactions and accounts of its assets, liabilities, receipts, disbursements, gains, and losses;
- C) A record of its members, if any, indicating their names and addresses and, if applicable, the class of membership held by each member and the termination date of any membership;
- D) A copy of the Corporation's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws as amended to date,

Section 2. Corporate Seal

The Board of Directors may adopt, use, and at will alter, a corporate seal. Such seal shall be kept at the principal office of the Corporation. Failure to affix the seal to corporate instruments, however, shall not affect the validity of any such instrument.

Section 3. Directors' Inspection Rights.

Every Director shall have the absolute right at any reasonable time to inspect and copy all books, records, and documents of every kind and to inspect the physical properties of the Corporation.

Section 4. Public's Inspection Rights.

- A) The City, and owners of properties located within the boundaries of the District, and their duly appointed authorized representatives, shall have the absolute right at any reasonable time to inspect and copy all books, records and documents of every kind not otherwise exempted by law from public inspection.
- B) For all purposes of these Bylaws, the term "duly appointed authorized representative" shall mean a person who presents to the Secretary or the Executive

Director of the Corporation a written document identifying the owner of real property located within the boundaries of the District, the identity of the real property within the District owned by the owner, the identity of the representative being appointed, and the scope of the representative's authorization.

ARTICLE 11:

INSURANCE

The Board of Directors may adopt a resolution authorizing the purchase and maintenance of insurance on behalf of any agent of the Corporation (including a Director, officer, employee or other agent of the Corporation) against any liability other than for violating provisions of law relating to self-dealing (Section 5233 of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law) asserted against or incurred by the agent in such capacity or arising out of the agent's status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify the agent against such liability under the provisions of Section 5238 of the California Nonprofit Corporation Law.

ARTICLE 12:

AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

Subject to any provision of law applicable to the amendment of Bylaws of public benefit nonprofit corporations, these Bylaws, or any of them, may be altered, amended, or repealed and new Bylaws adopted as follows:

- A) Subject to the power of members, if any, to change or repeal these Bylaws under Section 5150 of the Corporations Code, by approval of the Board of Directors unless the Bylaw amendment would materially and adversely affect the rights of members, if any, as to voting or transfer, provided, however, if this Corporation has admitted any members, then a Bylaw specifying or changing the fixed number of directors of the Corporation, the maximum or minimum number of directors, or changing from a fixed to variable board or vice versa, may not be adopted, amended, or repealed except as provided in Paragraph B of this SECTION; or
- B) By approval of the majority action of the sitting Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 13:

PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS

Section 1. Loans.

Except as permitted by Section 5236 of the Code, the Corporation shall not make any loan of money or property to, or guarantee the obligation of, any Director or officer; provided, however, that the Corporation may advance money to a Director or officer of the Corporation or any subsidiary for expenses reasonably anticipated to be incurred in performance of the duties of such officer or Director so long as such individual would be entitled to be reimbursed for such expenses absent that advance.

Section 2. Self-Dealing Transactions.

Except as provided in Section 3, below, the Board shall not approve or permit the Corporation to engage in any self-dealing transaction. A self-dealing transaction is a transaction to which the Corporation is a party and in which one or more of its Directors has a material financial interest, unless the transaction is described in Section 5233(b) of the California Corporations Code.

Section 3. Approval.

This Corporation may engage in a self-dealing transaction if the transaction is approved by a court or by the Attorney General. This Corporation also may engage in a self-dealing transaction if the Board determines, before the transaction, that (1) the Corporation is entering into the transaction for its own benefit; (2) the transaction is fair and reasonable to the Corporation at the time; and (3) after reasonable investigation, the Board determines that it could not have obtained a more advantageous arrangement with reasonable effort under the circumstances. Such determinations must be made by the Board in good faith, with knowledge of the material facts concerning the transaction and the interest of the Director or Directors in the transaction, and by a vote of a majority of the Directors then in office, without counting the vote of the interested Director or Directors.

ARTICLE 14. CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND COMPENSATION APPROVAL POLICIES

Section 1: Purpose of Conflict-of-Interest Policy

The purpose of this conflict of interest policy is to protect this tax-exempt Corporation's interest when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interest of an officer or Director of the Corporation or any "disqualified person" as defined in Section 4958(f)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code and as amplified by Section 53.4958-3 of the IRS Regulations and which might result in a possible "excess benefit transaction" as defined in Section 4958(c)(1)(A) of the Internal Revenue Code and as amplified by Section 53.4958 of the IRS Regulations. This policy is intended to supplement but not replace any applicable state and federal laws governing conflict of interest applicable to nonprofit and charitable organizations.

Section 2: Definitions

- A) Interested Person. Any Director, principal officer, member of a committee with governing Board delegated powers, or any other person who is a "disqualified person" as defined in Section 4958(f)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code and as amplified by Section 53.4958-3 of the IRS Regulations, who has a direct or indirect financial interest, as defined below, is an interested person.
- B) Financial Interest. A Director has a financial interest if the person has, directly or indirectly, through business, investment, or family:
- 1. an ownership or investment interest in any entity with which the Corporation has a transaction or arrangement, or
- 2. a compensation arrangement with the Corporation or with any entity or individual with which the Corporation has a transaction or arrangement, or
- 3. a potential ownership or investment interest in, or compensation arrangement with, any entity or individual with which the Corporation is negotiating a transaction or arrangement.

Compensation includes direct and indirect remuneration as well as gifts or favors that are substantial.

A financial interest is not necessarily a conflict of interest. Under SECTION 3, paragraph B, a person who has a financial interest may have a conflict of interest only if the appropriate governing Board or committee decides that a conflict of interest exists.

Section 3: Conflict of Interest Avoidance Procedures

- A) Duty to Disclose. In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an interested person must disclose the existence of the financial interest and be given the opportunity to disclose all material facts to the Directors and members of committees with governing Board delegated powers considering the proposed transaction or arrangement.
- B) Determining Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists. After disclosure of the financial interest and all material facts, and after any discussion with the interested person, he/she shall leave the governing Board or committee meeting while the determination of a conflict of interest is discussed and voted upon. The remaining Board or committee members shall decide if a conflict of interest exists.
 - C) Procedures for Addressing the Conflict of Interest.
- 1. An interested person may make a presentation at the governing Board or committee meeting, but after the presentation, he/she shall leave the meeting during the discussion of, and the vote on, the transaction or arrangement involving the possible conflict of interest.
- 2. The chairperson of the governing Board or committee shall, if appropriate, appoint a disinterested person or committee to investigate alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement.
- 3. After exercising due diligence, the governing Board or committee shall determine whether the Corporation can obtain with reasonable efforts a more advantageous transaction or arrangement from a person or entity that would not give rise to a conflict of interest.
- 4. If a more advantageous transaction or arrangement is not reasonably possible under circumstances not producing a conflict of interest, the governing Board or committee shall determine by a majority vote of the disinterested Directors whether the transaction or arrangement is in the Corporation's best interest, for its own benefit, and whether it is fair and reasonable. In conformity with the above determination, it shall make its decision as to whether to enter into the transaction or arrangement.
- **D)** Violations of the Conflicts of Interest Policy. If the governing Board or committee has reasonable cause to believe a Director or committee member has failed to disclose actual or possible conflicts of interest, it shall inform the individual of the basis for such belief and afford the member an opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose.
- If, after hearing the member's response and after making further investigation as warranted by the circumstances, the governing Board or committee determines the member has failed to disclose an actual or possible conflict of interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action.

CERTIFICATE OF SECRETARY

I, the undersigned, certify that I am the currently elected and acting Secretary of Miracle Mile Improvement Association, a California Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation, and the above Bylaws, consisting of 24 pages, are the Bylaws of the Corporation as adopted at a meeting of the Board held on December 14, 2022.

Dated: December 14, 2022

Executed at Stockton, California

Rachelle Turner

Rachelle Turner, Secretary